
 

 
 

Scan the code above or visit www.nwleics.gov.uk/meetings 
for a full copy of the agenda. 

 

  

Meeting CORPORATE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 
Time/Day/Date 6.30 pm on Wednesday, 10 November 2021 
 
Location Council Chamber, Council Offices, Coalville 
 
Officer to contact Democratic Services, 01530 454512 
 
 

AGENDA 
 

Item  Pages 

 
1.  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 
 

2.  DECLARATION OF INTERESTS  
 

 

 Under the Code of Conduct members are reminded that in declaring 
disclosable interests you should make clear the nature of that interest 
and whether it is pecuniary or non-pecuniary. 
 

 

3.  PUBLIC QUESTION AND ANSWER SESSION  
 

 

 To receive questions from members of the public under rule no.10 of the 
Council Procedure Rules. The procedure rule provides that members of the 
public may ask any question on any matter in relation to which the Council has 
powers or duties which affect the District, provided that three clear days’ notice 
in writing has been given to the Head of Legal and Support Services. 
 

 

4.  MINUTES  
 

 

 To approve and sign the minutes of the meeting held on 1 September 2021 
 

3 - 6 

5.  ITEMS FOR INCLUSION IN THE FUTURE WORK PROGRAMME  
 

 

 To consider any items to be included in the work programme. The plan of 
forthcoming Cabinet decisions and the current work programme are attached 
for information. 
 

7 - 20 

6.  2021/22 QUARTER 2 PERFORMANCE REPORT  
 

 

 Report of the Head of Human Resources and Organisational Development 
 

21 - 52 

7.  REVIEW OF MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN  
 

 

 Report of the Head of Finance 
 

53 - 60 

http://www.nwleics.gov.uk/meetings


 
Circulation:  
 
Councillor R Boam (Chairman) 
Councillor B Harrison-Rushton (Deputy Chairman) 
Councillor E G C Allman 
Councillor D Bigby 
Councillor A J Bridgen 
Councillor G Hoult 
Councillor A C Saffell 
Councillor S Sheahan 
Councillor N Smith 
Councillor M B Wyatt 



1 
 
 

Chairman’s initials 

MINUTES of a meeting of the CORPORATE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE held in the Council 
Chamber, Council Offices, Coalville on WEDNESDAY, 1 SEPTEMBER 2021  
 
Present:  Councillor R Boam (Chairman) 
 
Councillors E G C Allman, D Bigby, A J Bridgen, G Hoult, A C Saffell and S Sheahan  

 
Portfolio Holders: Councillors A C Woodman 
 
Officers:  Mr A Barton, Mrs C Hammond, Mr D Bates, M D'Oyly-Watkins, Mr C Elston, 
Mrs A Harper, K Hiller, James, Mrs M Long, Mr M Murphy, Mr P Sanders and Mr P Wheatley 
 

12. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors B Rushton-Harrison, N Smith and 
M  Wyatt 
 

13. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 
 
There were no interests declared. 
 

14. PUBLIC QUESTION AND ANSWER SESSION 
 
There were no questions received.  
 

15. MINUTES 
 
Consideration was given to the minutes of the meeting held on 9 June 2021. It was moved 
by Councillor S Sheahan and seconded by Councillor G Hoult and subsequently  

 
RESOLVED:- That the minutes of the meeting held on 9 June 2021 be approved as a 
correct record. 
 

16. ITEMS FOR INCLUSION IN THE FUTURE WORK PROGRAMME 
 
Consideration was given to the inclusion of any items to the work programme. The plan of 
forthcoming Cabinet decisions and the current work programme were set out in the 
agenda for information. 

 
It was noted that a request had been received from Councillor Bigby for the inclusion of an 
item relating to the Council’s failure to claim grants from the RHI Scheme. It was further 
noted that this matter was being addressed by the Audit and Governance Committee and 
it was therefore deemed inappropriate to be discussed separately by a different committee  
 
Councillor Bigby expressed his disappointment at this decision adding that HR, IT and 
Finance issues were within the remit of the Committee and he urged the Chairman to 
reconsider so that the matter could be properly scrutinised. The Chairman advised that it 
remained his view that the Audit and Governance Committee was the appropriate place to 
deal with this matter. Councillor Bigby disagreed as he felt it did not have the right tools or 
powers to deal with the matter effectively but the Chairman was satisfied that he did not 
wish to revisit the request.  Councillor Sheahan queried whether the request would be 
reconsidered if the Audit and Governance Committee had finished looking at it and asked 
the Scrutiny Committee to pick it up.  The Chairman confirmed that in that case he would 
reconsider the request if there was outstanding work that Audit and Governance were not 
able to take any further 
 

3

Agenda Item 4.



2 
 
 

Chairman’s initials 

17. FLEET MANAGEMENT STRATEGY 
 
It was reported that due to a technical issue, annexe A of the report had not been 
published as part of the agenda papers in relation to this item. Copies were made 
available to all members of the Committee ahead of the meeting and the document had 
since been published alongside all the meeting papers. The Chairman invited the Head of 
Community Services to explain the content of annexe A which effectively was an 
executive summary of all the other annexes which members had previously received with 
the agenda. Members were invited to make a decision as to whether they wished to take 
some time to read the document or to continue with the meeting given this explanation 
and the fact that a summary of the document would also be provided as part of the 
presentation. It was agreed that the meeting be continued without the need for an 
adjournment. 

 
The Head of Community Services set out his report on the draft Fleet Management 
Strategy and invited comments on the proposals which included the purchase of electric 
vehicles to replace diesel vehicles and the options for replacement diesel. Members were 
also invited to comment on the future potential location of the Waste and Parks depots 
which would help support a growing district and enable technology infrastructure 
investment to support the zero carbon agenda. In order to provide more clarity and detail 
around these issues, the Committee received a comprehensive presentation. 
 
Councillor Woodman, Portfolio Holder for Community Services advised that the report 
offered a sensible and pragmatic approach and enabled the Council to adopt the more 
advanced technologies as they evolve. He invited the Committee’s views.   
 
The Committee felt that it was a well-researched report and they largely agreed with the 
findings and gave their support to the conclusions. There was some concern about the 
sustainability of palm oil and the use of land for growing crops for fuel as opposed to for 
consumption. It was explained that the product is not grown in fields but is recycled from 
waste product from food manufacturing. An example of this is cooking oil, and it was 
reiterated that there would be no procurement of any product containing palm oil.  
 
Questions were asked around the likely timescale for the introduction of hydrogen 
technology and the reported emissions of nitrogen dioxide and whether these were based 
on emissions from the fuel or the brakes and tyres. It was reported that the Government 
had released a strategy on hydrogen technology which it was hoped would increase the 
demand and hence bring forward its availability. The technology is growing fast and 
2023/24 is an early estimate. The nitrogen dioxide emissions were based on the fuel; and 
new technology was awaited to enable the manufacture of improved tyres and brakes. 
 
Further questions were asked in relation to the costs of the electric charging points for 
those members of staff who park the vehicles at their home, the range of an electric 
vehicle in a rural district, the lifecycle of the production of a battery and the benefits of 
purchasing against leasing the vehicles.  
 
In response to these questions, it was noted that the cost of a home charger was in the 
region of £500 and the staff member would be reimbursed for the cost of any electricity 
used. These vehicles are not used for personal use, but enables the staff members to go 
straight out on a job to save on time and mileage. The journeys of the refuse vehicles are 
constantly reviewed to make sure that they travel around the district in the most 
sustainable way possible. In terms of the lifecycle of a battery, it was acknowledged that 
whilst there might be some environmental issues at present, all manufacturers had been 
given the same target to be zero carbon by 2050 so they will need to make changes; and 
we would also being asking pertinent questions as part of the procurement process. The 
financial appraisals have demonstrated that purchasing the vehicles is more financially 

4



3 
 
 

Chairman’s initials 

viable than leasing given that a good price is achieved when selling the vehicles as they 
hold their value well.  
 
The Committee agreed with the report’s conclusion that this issue needed to be kept 
under constant review, especially with regard to new technologies.  
 
By affirmation of the meeting it was  
 
RESOLVED:- That the draft Fleet Management Strategy and action plan be supported 
and that the comments of the Committee be conveyed to Cabinet ahead of its decision.  
 

18. 2021/22 QUARTER 1 PERFORMANCE REPORT 
 
The Head of Human Resources and Organisational Development introduced his report 
which provided an update on the Councils key objectives and performance indicators for 
the period April to June 2021. It was noted that these were based on the Council Delivery 
Plan agreed by Council in November 2020, as the latest one is yet to be agreed by 
Council at its meeting on 7 September.   

 
Concern was expressed on the level of fly tipping and a member felt that the Council had 
lost control of the situation and asked that the Committee be informed of the cause of the 
issue and what was being done in an attempt to address it.  The Committee was advised 
that the figures reflected the situation in the midst of the pandemic with severe staffing 
issues the tips being appointment only and the public being restricted in movements. The 
figures are historical and the situation has already been remedied and the figures are now 
more in line with where they would be expected to be. 
 
In response to a question in relation to the target of 9,000 people attending events in 
Coalville against the reality of 6,000 and the reason for the shortfall, it was noted that 
9,000 was a target was for the year and 6,000 was what had been achieved in the first 
quarter and therefore it was a positive outcome.  
 
Further details were requested on the proposal for loyalty cards and it was noted that it 
was not just intended for the Belvoir Shopping Centre but across the wider shopping 
areas. The detail was still being developed but it was agreed that these would be shared 
with members outside the meeting.  
 
It was noted that the figures in the report which relate to shop vacancy rates were 
produced before demolition commenced at the Belvoir centre and therefore they include 
information relating to some units which no longer exist.  
 
Discussion turned to the use of leisure centres as vaccination centres. There were mixed 
views as these were considered vital to the area, whilst accepting that it resulted in the 
loss of community facilities in the area.  
 
Concern was expressed by a member who felt that we may be deliberately holding back 
on capital spend in order to balance the books on the Housing Revenue Account. It was 
made clear that the issue was around dealing with the backlog of some capital works a 
result of Covid and every effort was being made to address the backlogs of work and 
hence maximise the available funds.  
 
The discussion turned to the levels of sickness and more specifically the levels of stress 
related illness. Assurances were sought that the workforce was being appropriately looked 
after. Members were reassured that good levels of support are provided including the use 
of occupational health, a counselling helpline and dedicated HR support.  
 

5



4 
 
 

Chairman’s initials 

Having been moved by Councillor E Allman and seconded by Councillor G Hoult it was 
subsequently 
 
RESOLVED:- That the Quarter 1 Performance Report be noted and that the comments of 
the Committee be conveyed to Cabinet ahead of its meeting on 21 September 2021.  
 

19. SPECIAL EXPENSES POLICY 
 
The Head of Finance presented his report which set out the details of a draft Special 
Expenses Policy which aimed to formalise the Council’s current position on special 
expenses. It was noted that the draft Policy had already been considered by the Coalville 
Special Expenses Working Party at its meeting held on 15th June 2021.  

 
Members were of the view that if the Coalville Special Expenses Working Party had 
already seen this and were happy with it then there were no further comments to make.  
 
By affirmation of the meeting it was 
 
RESOLVED:- That the draft Special Expenses Policy be noted and that the comments of 
the Committee be conveyed to Cabinet ahead of its meeting on 21 September 2021 
before final approval is sought at the Council meeting on 16 November 2021. 
 

20. EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 
 
Having been moved by Councillor T Saffell and seconded by Councillor S Sheahan it was 
subsequently 

 
RESOLVED THAT: 
 
In pursuance of Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the press and public 
be excluded from the remainder of the meeting on the grounds that the business to be 
transacted involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraph 3 
of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Act and that the public interest in maintaining this 
exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information. 
 

21. THE RECOVERY OF OUR LEISURE CENTRES AND THE PARTNERSHIP CONTRACT 
WITH EVERYONE ACTIVE (OCTOBER 2021 TO MARCH 2022) 
 
The Head of Community Services set out his report which updated members on the 
recovery of the leisure centres during the Covid-19 pandemic. The Committee also 
received a detailed presentation. 
  
Having been moved by Councillor A Bridgen and seconded by Councillor G Hoult it was 
subsequently 
 
RESOLVED:- That the journey of recovery taken by the leisure centres be noted and that 
the comments of the Committee be conveyed to Cabinet ahead of its meeting on 21 
September 2021. 
 
 

The meeting commenced at 6.30 pm 
 
The Chairman closed the meeting at 8.50 pm 
 

 

6



Corporate Scrutiny Committee – WORK PROGRAMME (as at 02/11/21) 
 

Date of Meeting Item Lead Officer Witnesses Agenda Item Duration 

8 December 2021 

8 December 2021 Customer Services Strategy 
 

Karey Barnshaw, 
Customer Services Lead 

- 30 minutes 

8 December 2021 Housing Asset Management Plan 2021/2023 Jas Singh, Housing Asset 
Management Team 
Manager 

- 15 minutes 

8 December 2021 Draft Budget and Council Tax 2021/22 Dan Bates, Head of 
Finance 

- 30 minutes 

5 January 2022 

5 January 2022 Draft Treasury Management Strategy Statement 
2022/23 - 2026/27 

Dan Bates, Head of 
Finance 

- 15 minutes 

5 January 2022 Draft Investment Strategy - Service and 
Commercial 2022/23 

Dan Bates, Head of 
Finance 

- 15 minutes 

5 January 2022 Draft 2022/23 Capital Strategy Dan Bates, Head of 
Finance 

- 15 minutes 

5 January 2022 Recommendations of the Scrutiny Cross Party 
Working Group – Scrutiny Work Programming 
 

Andy Barton, Strategic 
Director 

- 20 minutes 

9 March 2022 

9 March 2022 2021/22 Quarter 3 Performance Report Mike Murphy, Head of 
Human Resources and 
Organisational 
Development 

- 15 minutes 

7

A
genda Item

 5.



T
his page is intentionally left blank



DRAFT Notice of Executive Key Decisions  
 

The attached notice lists the matters which are likely to be the subject of a key decision by the Council's executive and executive decision making bodies.  This notice is 
produced in accordance with the Constitution adopted by North West Leicestershire District Council and will be published a minimum of 28 days before the date on which a 
key decision is to be made on behalf of the Council. 
 
 

Key Decisions  
 

A key decision means a decision taken by the Cabinet, a committee of the Cabinet, an area or joint committee or an individual in connection with the discharge of a 
function which is the responsibility of the executive and which is likely: 
 
(a)      to result in the Council incurring expenditure which is, or the making of savings which are, significant having regard to the Council's budget for the service or 
 function to which the decision relates; or 
 
(b)     to be significant in terms of its effects on communities living or working in an area comprising two or more wards in the area of the Council; 
 
(c)      for the purposes of (a) and (b) above £100,000 shall be regarded as significant in terms of expenditure or savings, and any issue which, in the opinion of the 
 Leader is likely to have an impact on people, shall be regarded as significant in terms of impact on communities. 
 
The Council’s Executive 
 
The Council’s executive committee is the Cabinet.  The Cabinet comprises: 
 

Councillor R Blunt - Leader    Councillor A Woodman  - Community Services 
Councillor R Ashman - Deputy Leader and Infrastructure  Councillor N J Rushton  - Corporate 
Councillor T Gillard - Business and Regeneration  Councillor R D Bayliss  - Housing, Property & Customer Services  
Councillor K Merrie MBE  - Planning 
 

Confidential Items and Private Meetings of the Executive 
 
Whilst the majority of the Cabinet's business at the meetings listed in this notice will be open to the public and media organisations to attend, there will inevitably be some 
business to be considered that contains, for example, confidential, commercially sensitive or personal information. This is a formal notice under the Local Authorities 
(Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012 that part of the Cabinet meetings listed in this Forward Plan may be held in 
private because the agenda and reports for the meeting contain exempt information under Part 1 Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act (Access to Information) Act 
1985 (as amended) and that the public interest in withholding the information outweighs the public interest in disclosing it. Those Items where it is considered that they 
should be considered in private are identified on the Notice.  
 

Access to Agenda and Related Documents 
 

Documents relating to the matters listed in this notice are available at least 5 clear working days prior to the date of decision as indicated below.  Other documents relevant 
to the matters listed in this notice may be submitted to the decision maker. 
 

If you wish to request or submit a document, or make representation in relation to any issue contained within this notice, please contact Democratic Services on telephone 
number 01530 454512 or by emailing memberservices@nwleicestershire.gov.uk 

9

mailto:memberservices@nwleicestershire.gov.uk


 

Executive Decisions 

Decision Decision 
Maker 

Status of 
Decision 

Public or 
Private 

 
(and reason – 
where private 

Date of Decision Contacts Documents to be 
submitted to the 
Decision Maker 

Considered by 
Scrutiny or  other 

Committee 

November 2021 

Freeport Update 
 
 

Cabinet 
 
 

Key Public 
 
 

 

9 November 2021 Councillor Robert 
Ashman 
Tel: 01283 561700 
robert.ashman@nwleicest
ershire.gov.uk 
 
Strategic Director of 
Place 
Tel: 01530 454555 
james.arnold@nwleiceste
rshire.gov.uk 
 

Report 
Freeport Update 

Report is an update for 
Cabinet 

Recommendations of the 
Community Scrutiny 
Committee - Increasing the 
Supply of Affordable 
Housing 
 

Cabinet 
 
 

Non-Key Public 
 

 

9 November 2021 Councillor Roger Bayliss 
Tel: 01530 411055 
roger.bayliss@nwleiceste
rshire.gov.uk 
 
Head of Housing 
Tel: 01530 454780 
chris.lambert@nwleiceste
rshire.gov.uk 
 

Report 
Recommendations of 
the Community 
Scrutiny Committee - 
Increasing the 
Supply of Affordable 
Housing 

Community Scrutiny 
Committee - 26 
October 2021 

December 2021 

10



Decision Decision 
Maker 

Status of 
Decision 

Public or 
Private 

 
(and reason – 
where private 

Date of Decision Contacts Documents to be 
submitted to the 
Decision Maker 

Considered by 
Scrutiny or other 

Committee 

Local Plan Review - 
Development Strategy 
 
 

Cabinet 
 
 

Key Public 
 
 

 

7 December 2021 Councillor Keith Merrie 
MBE 
 
keith.merrie@nwleicester
shire.gov.uk 
 
Planning Policy & Land 
Charges Team Manager 
Tel: 01530 454677 
ian.nelson@nwleicesters
hire.gov.uk 
 

Report 
Local Plan Review - 
Development 
Strategy 

Issue will have been 
discussed at Local 
Plan Committee of 27 
October 2021 

Housing Strategy 
 
 

Cabinet 
 
 

Key Public 
 
 

 

7 December 2021 Councillor Roger Bayliss 
Tel: 01530 411055 
roger.bayliss@nwleiceste
rshire.gov.uk 
 
Head of Housing 
Tel: 01530 454780 
chris.lambert@nwleiceste
rshire.gov.uk 
 

Draft Strategy 
Document 
Housing Strategy 

Community Scrutiny 
Committee - 29 
September 2021 

Minutes of the Coalville 
Special Expenses Working 
Party 
 

Cabinet 
 
 

Key Public 
 

 

7 December 2021 Councillor Andrew 
Woodman 
Tel: 07970 520357 
andrew.woodman@nwlei
cestershire.gov.uk 
 
Head of Community 
Services 
Tel: 01530 454832 
paul.sanders@nwleiceste
rshire.gov.uk 
 

Minutes of the 
Coalville Special 
Expenses Working 
Party 

Coalville Special 
Expenses Working 
Party - 12 October 
2021 

11



Decision Decision 
Maker 

Status of 
Decision 

Public or 
Private 

 
(and reason – 
where private 

Date of Decision Contacts Documents to be 
submitted to the 
Decision Maker 

Considered by 
Scrutiny or other 

Committee 

PSPO - Netherfield Lane 
 

Cabinet 
 
 

Key Public 
 

 

7 December 2021 Councillor Andrew 
Woodman 
Tel: 07970 520357 
andrew.woodman@nwlei
cestershire.gov.uk 
 
Head of Community 
Services 
Tel: 01530 454832 
paul.sanders@nwleiceste
rshire.gov.uk 
 

PSPO - Netherfield 
Lane 

This is a review of an 
existing PSPO which 
will include a public 
consultation, we would 
struggle to take it to 
scrutiny and meet the 
legislative deadline. 

2021/22 Quarter 2 
Performance Report 
 

Cabinet 
 
 

Key Public 
 

 

7 December 2021 Councillor Richard Blunt 
Tel: 01530 454510 
richard.blunt@nwleicester
shire.gov.uk 
 
Head of Human 
Resources and 
Organisational 
Development 
Tel: 01530 454518 
mike.murphy@nwleiceste
rshire.gov.uk 
 

2021/22 Quarter 2 
Performance Report 

Corporate Scrutiny 
Committee - 10 
November 2021 

Affordable Housing 
Supplementary Planning 
Document 
 
 

Cabinet 
 
 

Key Public 
 
 

 

7 December 2021 Councillor Keith Merrie 
MBE 
 
keith.merrie@nwleicester
shire.gov.uk 
 
 
 
sarah.lee@nwleicestershi
re.gov.uk 
 

Report outlining 
consultation 
comments and 
suggested response 
along with proposed 
changes as 
necessary 
Affordable Housing 
Supplemnetary 
Planning Document 

Consultation 
responses to be 
considered by Local 
Plan Committee 
following Cabinet 

12



Decision Decision 
Maker 

Status of 
Decision 

Public or 
Private 

 
(and reason – 
where private 

Date of Decision Contacts Documents to be 
submitted to the 
Decision Maker 

Considered by 
Scrutiny or other 

Committee 

Disposal of an empty 
property in Kegworth 
 
 

Cabinet 
 
 

Key Private 
Information 
relating to the 
financial or 
business affairs of 
any particular 
person (including 
the authority 
holding that 
information)  
 

 

7 December 2021 Councillor Roger Bayliss 
Tel: 01530 411055 
roger.bayliss@nwleiceste
rshire.gov.uk 
 
Housing Asset 
Management Team 
Manager 
 
jas.singh@nwleicestershir
e.gov.uk 
 

Disposal Policy 
approved by Cabinet 
on 21 September 
2021 
Disposal of an empty 
property in Kegworth 

Decision being sought 
under approved 
Disposal Policy 

January 2022 

Empty Properties 
 

Cabinet 
 
 

Key Private 
Information 
relating to any 
individual.  
Information 
relating to the 
financial or 
business affairs of 
any particular 
person (including 
the authority 
holding that 
information)  

 

11 January 2022 Councillor Andrew 
Woodman 
Tel: 07970 520357 
andrew.woodman@nwlei
cestershire.gov.uk 
 
Head of Community 
Services 
Tel: 01530 454832 
paul.sanders@nwleiceste
rshire.gov.uk 
 

Empty Properties Not to be considered 
by a Scrutiny 
Committee. 

Zero Litter Campaign 
 

Cabinet 
 
 

Key Public 
 

 

11 January 2022 Councillor Andrew 
Woodman 
Tel: 07970 520357 
andrew.woodman@nwlei
cestershire.gov.uk 
 
Head of Community 
Services 
Tel: 01530 454832 
paul.sanders@nwleiceste
rshire.gov.uk 
 

Zero Litter Campaign 29/09/21 Dog Fouling, 
Fly Tipping and 
Littering Update 

13



Decision Decision 
Maker 

Status of 
Decision 

Public or 
Private 

 
(and reason – 
where private 

Date of Decision Contacts Documents to be 
submitted to the 
Decision Maker 

Considered by 
Scrutiny or other 

Committee 

Customer Service Strategy 
 

Cabinet 
 
 

Key Public 
 

 

11 January 2022 Councillor Roger Bayliss 
Tel: 01530 411055 
roger.bayliss@nwleiceste
rshire.gov.uk 
 
Strategic Director of 
Housing and Customer 
Services 
Tel: 01530 454819 
andy.barton@nwleicester
shire.gov.uk 
 

Customer Service 
Strategy 

Corporate Scrutiny 
Nov 21 

Council Tax Base 2022/23 
 

Cabinet 
 
 

Key Public 
 

 

11 January 2022 Councillor Nicholas 
Rushton 
Tel: 01530 412059 
nicholas.rushton@nwleic
estershire.gov.uk 
 
Head of Finance 
Tel: 01530 454 707 
dan.bates@nwleicestersh
ire.gov.uk 
 

Council Tax Base 
2022/23 

Not to be considered 
by a Scrutiny 
Committee - The 
calculation of the 
council tax base is 
prescribed in statute 

Former Tenant Rent 
Arrears, Current Tenant 
Rent Arrears, Council Tax, 
Non Domestic Rates and 
Sundry Debtor Write Offs 
 
 

Cabinet 
 
 

Key Public 
 
 

 

11 January 2022 Councillor Nicholas 
Rushton 
Tel: 01530 412059 
nicholas.rushton@nwleic
estershire.gov.uk 
 
Head of Finance 
Tel: 01530 454 707 
dan.bates@nwleicestersh
ire.gov.uk 
 

Former Tenant Rent 
Arrears, Current 
Tenant Rent Arrears, 
Council Tax, Non 
Domestic Rates and 
Sundry Debtor Write 
Offs 
Former Tenant Rent 
Arrears, Current 
Tenant Rent Arrears, 
Council Tax, Non 
Domestic Rates and 
Sundry Debtor Write 
Offs 

Not to be considered 
by a Scrutiny 
Committee. Under the 
constitution Cabinet 
are required to 
approve write-offs over 
£10,000. 

14



Decision Decision 
Maker 

Status of 
Decision 

Public or 
Private 

 
(and reason – 
where private 

Date of Decision Contacts Documents to be 
submitted to the 
Decision Maker 

Considered by 
Scrutiny or other 

Committee 

Draft Budget and Council 
Tax 2021/22 
 

Cabinet 
 
 

Key Public 
 

 

11 January 2022 Councillor Nicholas 
Rushton 
Tel: 01530 412059 
nicholas.rushton@nwleic
estershire.gov.uk 
 
Head of Finance 
Tel: 01530 454 707 
dan.bates@nwleicestersh
ire.gov.uk 
 

Report 
Draft Budget and 
Council Tax 2021/22 

Corporate Scrutiny - 8 
December 2021 

February 2022 

Budget and Council Tax 
2021/22 
 

Cabinet 
 
 

Key Public 
 

 

1 February 2022 Councillor Nicholas 
Rushton 
Tel: 01530 412059 
nicholas.rushton@nwleic
estershire.gov.uk 
 
Head of Finance 
Tel: 01530 454 707 
dan.bates@nwleicestersh
ire.gov.uk 
 

Report 
Budget and Council 
Tax 2021/22 

Will have already been 
considered by Scrutiny 
and public consultation 
carried out 

2022 - 2027 Medium Term 
Financial Plans 
 

Cabinet 
 
 

Key Public 
 

 

1 February 2022 Councillor Nicholas 
Rushton 
Tel: 01530 412059 
nicholas.rushton@nwleic
estershire.gov.uk 
 
Head of Finance 
Tel: 01530 454 707 
dan.bates@nwleicestersh
ire.gov.uk 
 

 Corporate Scrutiny 
Committee - 1 
September 2021 

15



Decision Decision 
Maker 

Status of 
Decision 

Public or 
Private 

 
(and reason – 
where private 

Date of Decision Contacts Documents to be 
submitted to the 
Decision Maker 

Considered by 
Scrutiny or other 

Committee 

Treasury Management 
Strategy Statement 
2022/23 and Prudential 
Indicators 2022/23 - 
2024/25 
 

Cabinet 
 
 

Key Public 
 

 

1 February 2022 Councillor Nicholas 
Rushton 
Tel: 01530 412059 
nicholas.rushton@nwleic
estershire.gov.uk 
 
Head of Finance 
Tel: 01530 454 707 
dan.bates@nwleicestersh
ire.gov.uk 
 

Treasury 
Management 
Strategy Statement 
2022/23 and 
Prudential Indicators 
2022/23 - 2024/25 

Corporate Scrutiny 
Committee - 5 January 
2022 

Investment Strategy - 
Service and Commercial 
2022/23 
 

Cabinet 
 
 

Key Public 
 

 

1 February 2022 Councillor Nicholas 
Rushton 
Tel: 01530 412059 
nicholas.rushton@nwleic
estershire.gov.uk 
 
Head of Finance 
Tel: 01530 454 707 
dan.bates@nwleicestersh
ire.gov.uk 
 

Investment Strategy 
- Service and 
Commercial 2022/23 

Corporate Scrutiny 
Committee - 5 January 
2022 

Marlborough Square Public 
Realm 
 
 

Cabinet 
 
 

Key Public 
 
 

 

1 February 2022 Councillor Richard Blunt 
Tel: 01530 454510 
richard.blunt@nwleicester
shire.gov.uk 
 
Head of Economic 
Regeneration 
Tel: 01530 454 354 
paul.wheatley@nwleicest
ershire.gov.uk 
 

Report and 
appendices 
Marlborough Square 
Public Realm 

To be considered at 
Scrutiny on 26th 
October 2021 

16



Decision Decision 
Maker 

Status of 
Decision 

Public or 
Private 

 
(and reason – 
where private 

Date of Decision Contacts Documents to be 
submitted to the 
Decision Maker 

Considered by 
Scrutiny or other 

Committee 

Minutes of the Coalville 
Special Expenses Working 
Party 
 

Cabinet 
 
 

Key Public 
 

 

1 February 2022 Councillor Andrew 
Woodman 
Tel: 07970 520357 
andrew.woodman@nwlei
cestershire.gov.uk 
 
Head of Community 
Services 
Tel: 01530 454832 
paul.sanders@nwleiceste
rshire.gov.uk 
 

Minutes of the 
Coalville Special 
Expenses Working 
Party 

Coalville Special 
Expenses Working 
Party - 14 December 
2021 

1 March 2022 

There are no items to be considered. 

29 March 2022 

2021/22 Quarter 3 
Performance Report 
 

Cabinet 
 
 

Key Public 
 

 

29 March 2022 Councillor Richard Blunt 
Tel: 01530 454510 
richard.blunt@nwleicester
shire.gov.uk 
 
Head of Human 
Resources and 
Organisational 
Development 
Tel: 01530 454518 
mike.murphy@nwleiceste
rshire.gov.uk 
 

2021/22 Quarter 3 
Performance Report 

Corporate Scrutiny 
Committee - 9 March 
2022 

17



Decision Decision 
Maker 

Status of 
Decision 

Public or 
Private 

 
(and reason – 
where private 

Date of Decision Contacts Documents to be 
submitted to the 
Decision Maker 

Considered by 
Scrutiny or other 

Committee 

Former Tenant Rent 
Arrears, Current Tenant 
Rent Arrears, Council Tax, 
Non Domestic Rates and 
Sundry Debtor Write Offs 
 
 

Cabinet 
 
 

Key Public 
 
 

 

29 March 2022 Councillor Nicholas 
Rushton 
Tel: 01530 412059 
nicholas.rushton@nwleic
estershire.gov.uk 
 
Head of Finance 
Tel: 01530 454 707 
dan.bates@nwleicestersh
ire.gov.uk 
 

Former Tenant Rent 
Arrears, Current 
Tenant Rent Arrears, 
Council Tax, Non 
Domestic Rates and 
Sundry Debtor Write 
Offs 
Former Tenant Rent 
Arrears, Current 
Tenant Rent Arrears, 
Council Tax, Non 
Domestic Rates and 
Sundry Debtor Write 
Offs 

Not to be considered 
by a Scrutiny 
Committee. Under the 
constitution Cabinet 
are required to 
approve write-offs over 
£10,000. 

North West Leicestershire 
Economic Growth Plan 
2022 
 
 

Cabinet 
 
 

Key Public 
 
 

 

29 March 2022 Councillor Tony Gillard 
Tel: 01530 452930 
tony.gillard@nwleicesters
hire.gov.uk 
 
Head of Economic 
Regeneration 
Tel: 01530 454 354 
paul.wheatley@nwleicest
ershire.gov.uk 
 

North West 
Leicestershire 
Economic Growth 
Plan 2022 

To be considered by 
Community Scrutiny 
Committee 9 February 
2022. 

April 2022 

There are no items to be considered. 

June 2022 

18



Decision Decision 
Maker 

Status of 
Decision 

Public or 
Private 

 
(and reason – 
where private 

Date of Decision Contacts Documents to be 
submitted to the 
Decision Maker 

Considered by 
Scrutiny or other 

Committee 

Treasury Management 
Stewardship Report 
2021/22 
 
 

Cabinet 
 
 

Key Public 
 
 

 

7 June 2022 Councillor Nicholas 
Rushton 
Tel: 01530 412059 
nicholas.rushton@nwleic
estershire.gov.uk 
 
Head of Finance 
Tel: 01530 454 707 
dan.bates@nwleicestersh
ire.gov.uk 
 

Treasury 
Management 
Stewardship Report 
2021/22 

Audit and Governance 
Committee - 20 April 
2022 

Former Tenant Rent 
Arrears, Current Tenant 
Rent Arrears, Council Tax, 
Non Domestic Rates and 
Sundry Debtor Write Offs 
 
 

Cabinet 
 
 

Key Public 
 
 

 

7 June 2022 Councillor Nicholas 
Rushton 
Tel: 01530 412059 
nicholas.rushton@nwleic
estershire.gov.uk 
 
Head of Finance 
Tel: 01530 454 707 
dan.bates@nwleicestersh
ire.gov.uk 
 

Former Tenant Rent 
Arrears, Current 
Tenant Rent Arrears, 
Council Tax, Non 
Domestic Rates and 
Sundry Debtor Write 
Offs 
Former Tenant Rent 
Arrears, Current 
Tenant Rent Arrears, 
Council Tax, Non 
Domestic Rates and 
Sundry Debtor Write 
Offs 

Not to be considered 
by a Scrutiny 
Committee. Under the 
constitution Cabinet 
are required to 
approve write-offs over 
£10,000. 

Minutes of the Coalville 
Special Expenses Working 
Party 
 

Cabinet 
 
 

Key Public 
 

 

7 June 2022 Councillor Andrew 
Woodman 
Tel: 07970 520357 
andrew.woodman@nwlei
cestershire.gov.uk 
 
Head of Community 
Services 
Tel: 01530 454832 
paul.sanders@nwleiceste
rshire.gov.uk 
 

Minutes of the 
Coalville Special 
Expenses Working 
Party 

Coalville Special 
Expenses Working 
Party - 27 April 2022 

19



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

NORTH WEST LEICESTERSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
CORPORATE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE – TUESDAY,  
10 NOVEMBER 2021 

 

Title of Report 

 

2021/ 22 QUARTER 2 PERFORMANCE REPORT 

Presented by  

 

Mike Murphy 
Head of Human Resources and Organisational Development 
 

Background Papers Various documents on the In-Phase 

performance management system. 

Public Report: Yes 

 

Financial Implications  

Signed off by the Section 151 Officer: Yes 

 

Legal Implications None identified 

Signed off by the Deputy Monitoring Officer: Yes 

 

Staffing and Corporate 

Implications 

 

 

Signed off by the Head of Paid Service: Yes 

 

Purpose of Report The report provides members of the Scrutiny Committee with 
information on the performance and progress made against the Council 
Delivery Plan actions and performance indicators for Quarter 2 (July to 
September 2021) 

Recommendations THAT THE CORPORATE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE NOTES THE 
QUARTER 2 PERFORMANCE REPORT AND PROVIDES 
COMMENTS FOR CONSIDERATION BY CABINET AT ITS MEETING 
ON 7 DECEMBER 2021. 

 

1.  INTRODUCTION  

 

1.1 This report provides an update of the Councils key objectives and performance indicators for the 
 period July to September 2021. Performance is managed at a strategic, service, operational and 
 individual level. This report provides information measured against the Council Delivery Plan agreed 
 in September 2021. 

  

1.2 The quarterly performance reports seek to recognise good performance, share best practice across 
 the organisation and also to identify ‘performance gaps’ highlighting if and where action is required 

21

Agenda Item 6.



 to meet targets. Once these gaps are identified, intervention plans will be created or adapted to 
 improve performance towards the target. This will be part of a continual cycle of review and action. 
 

2. SUMMARY OF PERFORMANCE QUARTER 2. 

 

2.1 This report sets out the performance and progress against the Council Delivery Plan actions and 
 key performance indicators. Headline information about Health and Safety, Customer services, 
 sickness absence management and finance is also included.  
 

2.2 A report on the progress made against the Council Delivery Plan actions and indicators is included 
 in Appendix 1. In summary of the 35 actions in the Council Delivery Plan 4 had been achieved, and 
 31 are in progress at this stage. (or are on hold due to Covid-19 or reported as an annual target).  
 

2.3 The following notable achievements in the second quarter of 2021/22 were: - 
 

2.4 Supporting Coalville to be a more vibrant, family friendly town 
 

 The Newmarket in Marlborough Square Coalville was launched to the public on 10th September 

with over 500 people attending over the weekend. The feedback from guests and the public was 

extremely positive and the council received extensive media coverage. This facility is key to the 

redevelopment of this area of the Coalville Town Centre. 

 A bid for funding for a cinema for Coalville has been submitted to government as part of the 
Lyceum proposal. 

 

 Work on improvements under the Belvoir Shopping Centre, Marlborough Centre, Wolsey Road 
and Marlborough Square projects are underway with the Belvoir Centre entering the construction 
phase during the quarter. 
 

2.5 Our communities are safe, healthy, and connected 
 

 Work continues on the new Whitwick and Coalville Leisure Centre which is now due to be 
completed ahead of schedule. During construction there have been significant benefits to the 
local economy realised. In addition to this, participation levels at both Hermitage Leisure Centre 
and Ashby Leisure Centre and Lido continue to increase following the reopening of the leisure 
centres, and it is anticipated they will reach pre-Covid levels by March 2022. 
 

 We are continuing our work to make sure our customers can interact with us in a way which 
meets their needs, we are continuing to promote on-line interactions where possible – in this 
quarter specifically through the updated waste calendars which were delivered to every 
household. We continue to provide face to face meetings on an appointments basis where 
customers have difficulties in accessing the on-line offer. 
 

 Work has continued with partner agencies to develop a locality based Healthy Communities plan 
aimed at tackling significant health inequalities in North West Leicestershire. Four areas have 
been identified by the Integrated Neighbourhood Team as priorities in North West Leicestershire 
- Healthy weight, Mental health, Palliative care and Covid recovery. 

 
2.6 Local people live in High quality, affordable homes 

 

 Our aim is to increase the New Council Housing Supply – seeking to deliver at least 10 additional 
NWL Council Homes in the year. We have one acquisition pending due to complete in quarter 
four. And there are 7 section 106 units which the Council is due to purchase forecast for 
completion within the year alongside a further 9 that are currently forecast to complete between 

22



quarter 4 of 2021/22 and quarter 2 of 2022/23. We have two newbuild units due to start on site 
within the year with completions forecast for 2022/23. Feasibility assessments of potential new 
Council Housing build are being undertaken across the district. 
 

 We have been working with Housing associations and partners to seek to deliver in excess of 
100 new affordable homes in the district, and 149 homes have already been completed by the 
end of the quarter. We now anticipate the outturn for the year to be in excess of 220 homes. 
 

 Our programme to maintain and improve the Council tenants’ home has continued at pace and 
work to the value of £1.3m has been completed by the end of the quarter. 
 

 Schemes to improve parking and layouts on our Council Homes Estates are continuing with the 
different sites at various stages of feasibility, design and delivery. In all the Council will spend up 
to £1.6m in these improvements to improve the quality of life for our residents and communities. 
 

 The redevelopment of the Appleby Magna Caravan Park moved a stage closer with the 
appointment of a contractor and work is expected to start on-site in March 2022. 

 
2.7 Support for businesses and helping people into jobs 

 

 A review of the NWL Growth Plan is underway which will demonstrate clear linkages to targets 
within the Council Delivery Plan. Delivery of activities to support economic growth continues 
whilst the plan is refreshed. 
 

 We continue to support growth and inward investment particularly at our major distribution and 
employment sites such as Segro and Bardon etc.  
 

 We have implemented a programme of initiatives on our high streets designed to make them 
more attractive places to shop. This has involved the alignment of car park charges in the main 
shopper car parks in Coalville and a deep cleanse of the pavements. We have introduced 
shopping information points and commissioned street entertainers. Later this year we plan to 
introduce a local shopping loyalty card. 
 

 Working with our Leisure centre construction contractor we have continued to develop the social 
value performance of the project, with the engagement of over 40 local companies to boost local 
spend. In excess of over £2.9m has been spent locally either through staff accommodation and 
expenses or through local materials and suppliers. There has been good engagement with local 
schools to improve awareness and involvement in this key major project. 
 

 We have continued to contribute to the work of the East Midlands Development Corporation in 
developing a business plan, and we are working with partners to establish the East Midlands 
Freeport. 

 
2.8 Developing a clean and green district 

 

 Improving recycling rates across the district is a key priority and data from the government 
department DEFRA is expected to be confirmed during quarter 3. The quantities of black bin 
waste disposed of by household reduced during the quarter making a positive contribution to this 
priority. 

 

 Discussions are continuing with the Trade unions around possible changes to employee travel 
and allowances arrangements to help the Council to deliver its Zero Carbon roadmap, and we 
are starting in the discussions with consultant experts to explore the development of a carbon 
offset fund which will form part of the Local Planning process. 

 

23



 We are developing our strategy for more Electric Vehicle charging points with installations at 
Lindon Way depot and other installations in Coalville due to be completed at the Margaret St car 
park by the end October 2021. Feasibility studies are currently taking place at other sites in 
Measham. Phase 2 of the EV charging programme will consider opportunities on council owned 
properties, including the council offices, and housing land and at the new Leisure Centre and 
redeveloped Council headquarters. 
 

 We have achieved our objective to develop a fleet management strategy to transition our fleet to 
a zero carbon/low carbon solution by 2030 and start the first phase of procurement and purchase 
of vehicles during the quarter. Officers are now engaged with the delivery of the action plan. 
 

 Develop and implement a new taskforce to tackle litter across the district by enhancing the work 
of volunteers and aligning with the work carried out by street cleansing. The taskforce is currently 
finalising a zero-litter campaign document which will be presented to Cabinet in January 2022. 
 

 Work has been continuing to tackle littering and fly tipping with over £7300 of kit distributed to 
parish councils and individual litter pickers, and 14 campaigns led to 42 investigated cases and 
22 fixed penalty notices. 
 

 The Green Homes Grant programme has progressed very well, and we have completed works to 
all 56 of the properties required by our grant conditions. These have included the installation of 
additional insulation, air source heat pump systems, and solar photovoltaic electricity generation 
roof panels with battery backup systems. 
 

 We are working towards our target of reducing carbon emissions at the new Whitwick and 
Coalville Leisure Centre and Ashby Leisure Centre by 20% by 2024. In the quarter, working with 
our Leisure partner Everyone Active we have undertaken the following measures at Ashby 
Leisure Centre and Lido: - The replacement of the Combined Heat and Power unit with a 
Discount Energy Purchase unit, replaced lido pool pumps with lower energy units, replaced 
internal lighting with LED lamps, reduced pool temperatures by 0.5C, and installed timers on car 
parks and astro-turf pitches. 
 

 The new Whitwick and Coalville Leisure Centre new leisure centre will achieve a BREEAM 
Excellent rating that demonstrates a sustainability-focussed approach to the building and 
operating of the facility.  The building incorporates a photovoltaic (PV) array mounted on the roof; 
Electric Vehicle charging bays in the carpark; energy-efficient LED lighting throughout and smart 
building controls via a state-of-the-art building management system.  
 

 As progress towards our priority of reducing vehicle emissions from licensed Hackney Carriage 
and Private Hire vehicles our licensing policy requires all hackney carriage and private hire 
vehicles to be fitted with a euro 5 or 6 engine at the time of their licence renewal. A 15% discount 
on licence fees is offered to vehicles owners as an incentive. Monthly updates are provided to 
licence holders to encourage owners to replace vehicles with euro 4 engines. 

 
3.0 Performance Indicators 
 
3.1 The use of both qualitative and quantitative measures (indicators) to supplement the delivery of 

 actions in the Council Delivery plan provides a picture of how we are performing against the 
 expected outcomes. Progress against the Council’s key indicators is detailed under each group of 
actions with explanations of the progress against each of the key tasks identified for quarter 2. The 
overall performance against the indicators was significantly impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic - 
19 were on target, 1 was within a 5% variance of the target and 8 were not achieved. 16 are 
reported as annual targets.  Members will see that some of the Councils actions and indicators 
continue to be affected by the COVID-19 pandemic. 

 

24



Performance Indicator 2021/22  Actual  Target  RAG  Commentary 

Number of targets achieved 
 

 19  44    16 x N/A annual indicators 

Number of targets within 5% 
variance of target (10% financial) 

 1  0  
 

  

Number of targets Not achieved        8  0     

 

Actions 2021/22  Actual  Target  RAG  Commentary 

Number of Actions achieved 
 

 4  35     

Number of Actions in progress  31  35  
 

  

 

Policies and other considerations, as appropriate 

Council Priorities: 

 

This report documents the progress against all of the 

priorities in the Council delivery plan as agreed by Council 

in September 2021. 

Policy Considerations: 

 

The actions cut across a number of policy areas – 

developing Coalville and wider regeneration 

considerations, Community support, post COVID-19 

recovery and our climate agenda are some examples. 

Safeguarding: No specific considerations. 

Equalities/Diversity: No direct impacts 

Customer Impact: Detailed in the report. 

Economic and Social Impact:  Detailed in the report 

Environment and Climate Change: Detailed in the report 

Consultation/Community 

Engagement: 

Not applicable 

Risks: As detailed in the corporate risk register. 

Officer Contact Bev Smith Chief Executive 

bev.smith@nwleicestershire.gov.uk 

Mike Murphy Head of Human Resources and Organisation 

Development 

mike.murphy@nwleicestershire.gov.uk 

 

25

mailto:bev.smith@nwleicestershire.gov.uk
mailto:mike.murphy@nwleicestershire.gov.uk


Council Delivery Plan 2021/22 Quarterly Report QTR 2 

Supporting Coalville to be a more vibrant, family friendly town  

Our aims  

Coalville is a vibrant town – Local people choose to spend their time and money in Coalville town centre  

 – Coalville is a good place to do business  

Key tasks 2021/22 Quarter 2 Performance 

Complete Coalville’s Regeneration Framework and 
commence delivery.  
 
In progress 
 
 

Belvoir Shopping Centre, Marlborough Centre, Wolsey 
Road and Marlborough Square projects are all being 
delivered at the current time with the Belvoir Centre 
entering the construction phase during Q2. 

Begin construction of Marlborough Square new 
public space. 
 
In progress 
 

The construction drawing, specification, Bill of 
Quantities documents have been prepared and the 
construction contract is to be tendered during Q3 with 
a contract to be awarded in Q4. 

 

Open Coalville’s Newmarket once COVID -19 
restrictions permit and continue to provide support, 
guidance, and funding for Coalville Market traders 
to grow their businesses.  
 
Achieved  
 

Newmarket launched to the public on 10th 
September with over 500 people attending over the 
weekend. Feedback from guests and the public was 
extremely positive and the council received 
extensive media coverage. 
 

Seek a cinema operator for Coalville.    
 
In progress 
 

 A bid for funding for a cinema for Coalville has been 
submitted to government as part of the Lyceum 
proposal 

Develop a framework of opportunities for the land 
adjacent to the new Leisure Centre, the Hermitage 
Recreation Ground and the existing Hermitage 
Leisure Centre Building. 
 
In progress 
 

The council’s advisors V4 Services and their wider 
team have presented a shortlist of options for how the 
site can be used in the future, responding to 
community and other stakeholder feedback. 
Further work will be undertaken in Q3 to ensure that 
the scheme is affordable and is the best it can be, at 
which point approvals will be sought to re-consult the 
community/stakeholders and agree how best to 
proceed. 
Community Scrutiny, Whitwick Parish Council and 
members of the local community will continue to play a 
key role in ensuring successful outcomes for this 
essential project. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

26



Supporting Coalville to be a more vibrant, family friendly town - performance indicators 

Coalville is a vibrant town – Local people choose to spend their time and money in Coalville  

Coalville is a good place to do business 

Performance Indicator Actual Target 21/22 Performance Commentary 

Increase footfall in Coalville 

town centre per annum 

Not yet 

surveyed 

3% N/A The footfall survey for 2021/22 is 

not yet due to be completed. 

Percentage of major 

residential development 

schemes scoring / performing 

positively against Building for 

a Healthy Life and the 

Council's Good Design 

Supplementary Planning 

Document 

 

100% 90% 
 

All four major applications 

approved in Q2 scored positively 

High Street Retail Vacancy 

Rate in Coalville is below 

national average  

 < 13.7% * 

*Note: targets 

for 2021/22/23 

may vary as 

National 

Average varies 

N/A 

 

 

 

 

We have not yet undertaken our 

annual retail vacancy survey 

 

 

Increase the number of 

Coalville events attendees by 

500 per year from baseline of 

5000 in 2020/21 

7000 5500 
 

This is an annual measurement 

target. The programme of 

Coalville events for 2021/22 has 

not yet concluded and therefore 

we don’t have a final figure for the 

number of attendees, however the 

success of the Cinema in the Park 

event held in Q2 leads us to 

believe we will meet or exceed 

this target for the year. 

Trade Occupancy rates in 

Coalville’s Newmarket. 

 88% N/A Occupancy rates continue to rise 
on a Friday and Saturday and 
initiatives have been put in place 
to attract both traders and 
customers during the week. 
Promotional activities are being 
arranged during Halloween and 
Christmas and officers will be 
offering free stalls on a Tuesday 
and a 50% discount on a 
Thursday.  
 To further promote Newmarket 
the council now has both a 
dedicated Facebook and 
Instagram page with regular 

27



features such as ‘Spotlight on 
new traders’  
Officers have also responded to 
customer feedback by securing a 
fruit and veg seller 2 days a week 
which is regularly promoted on 
Facebook and Instagram as well 
as more traditional methods 
Occupancy rates will be reported 
for 2021/2 for the period October 
21 to March 22 and will be 
compared with similar markets 
within neighbouring areas. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

28



Our communities are safe, healthy, and connected  

Our aims  

Put our customer sat the heart of all we do – Increase connectivity (physically and virtually) throughout 

our communities  

– Support safer neighbourhoods  

Key tasks 2021/22 Quarter 2 Performance 

Make sure our customers can interact with us in a 
way which meets their needs, improving our 
services, promoting self-serve and digital options as 
well as providing face-to-face support compliant with 
COVID19 guidance.  
 
In progress 
 

Face to face continues by appointment only.  
Promotion of online account details were included on the 
new waste calendars which were delivered to all 
households in the district.   

Work with our leisure partners to continue the 
construction of the new Whitwick and Coalville 
Leisure Centre with completion planned for July 2022 
and increase participation at both this centre and 
Ashby Leisure Centre to where they were pre-COVID-
19 
 
In progress 
 

Work continues on the new Whitwick and Coalville 
Leisure Centre which is now due to be completed ahead 
of schedule. During construction there have been 
significant benefits to the local economy realised. In 
addition to this, participation levels at both Hermitage 
Leisure Centre and Ashby Leisure Centre and Lido 
continue to increase following the reopening of the leisure 
centres, and it’s anticipated they will reach pre-Covid 
levels by March 2022. 

Encourage and support town and Parish Councils to 
write and prepare their own Neighbourhood plans. 
 
In progress 
 

Hugglescote and Donington le Heath Neighbourhood 
Plan to go to referendum on 21 October 2021. 
Blackfordby Neighbourhood plan subject to consultation 
until 8 October 2021. 
4 other Neighbourhood Plans being supported by 
officers. 

Consultation will take place with relevant stakeholders 
on emerging options for the Local Plan Substantive 
Review including the development strategy and 
potential site allocations for new development. 
 
In progress 
 

Options for development strategy have been subject to 
Sustainability Appraisal with report presented and agreed 
at Local Plan Committee on 27 October 2021. To be 
reported to Cabinet on 7th December and then 
consultation in early 2022. 
 
Work assessing potential site allocations underway 

As part of the Integrated Neighbourhood Team, and in 
partnership with the West Leicestershire Clinical 
Commissioning Group, the North West Leicestershire 
GP Federation, Adult and Social Care, front line 
health care workers, and other key stakeholders, 
develop a locality based Healthy Communities plan 
aimed at tackling significant health inequalities in 
North West Leicestershire. 
 
In progress 
 

Four areas have been identified by the Integrated 
Neighbourhood Team as priorities in North West 
Leicestershire. These are. 

 Healthy weight 
 Mental health 
 Palliative care 
 Covid recovery 

An action plan is being developed to help address these 
priority areas and this will become effective from April 
2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

29



Our communities are safe, healthy, and connected – performance indicators 

Put our customer sat the heart of all we do – Increase connectivity (physically and virtually) throughout 

our communities – Support safer neighbourhoods  

Performance Indicator  Actual Target 

21/22 

Performance Commentary 

Number of online accounts 36,991 40,000 
 

Online accounts are on track to 

meet target currently standing a 

36991.  Average monthly sign up 

is 682. 

Number of online forms 

submitted by customers 

(transactions) 

4,500 

 

4,000 
 

Form submissions are in line with 

target and numbers were boosted 

by the waste trolley trial which 

received a massive 4500 

submissions. 

Percentage of customer 

satisfaction  

(Customer Services) 

84.45% 95% 
 

Telephone survey acquired 495 

competed responses. Online 

survey went live but only received 

8 responses therefore not 

considered appropriate return to 

quantify results. Greater 

promotion required for its use and 

inclusion.  

The percentage of adults in 

North West Leicestershire 

who are overweight or 

obese. 

 71.3% N/A 
This is an annual indicator so no 

performance figures will not be 

available until March 2022. 

Levels of participation at 

Hermitage / Whitwick and 

Coalville Leisure Centres. 

129,699 323,893 
            

Participation rates at Hermitage 

Leisure Centre are slightly down 

on target for Q2. Despite a raft of 

interventions being introduced at 

both sites by the council’s leisure 

partner, Everyone Active, the 

targets were based on the centres 

being open on 1 April. As they 

didn’t reopen until 12 April, almost 

2 weeks of usage was lost. In 

addition to this, the lack of 

investment at HLC as compared 

to ACLC means a number of 

customers have migrated to 

ACLC creating higher usage than 

forecast there. Whilst it is unlikely 

usage figures at HLC will reach 

the levels they were at prior to the 

pandemic, it is anticipated that 

usage levels across both sites will 

30



have returned to pre-Covid levels 

by the end of the financial year. 

Levels of participation at 

Hood Park / Ashby Leisure 

Centre 

185,374 371,526 
 

Participation rates at Ashby 

Leisure Centre and Lido have 

exceeded the target for Q2 given 

usage forecasts were based on 

the centres reopening on 1 April 

and they didn’t reopen until 12 

April. This is due to the range of 

interventions implemented by the 

council’s leisure partner, 

Everyone Active, and the 

investment into the facility both 

prior to and during the pandemic. 

Consequently, it is anticipated that 

usage will have returned to pre-

Covid levels across both leisure 

centre sites by the end of the 

financial year. 

 

NWL Local Plan – number of 

new homes built since the 

start of the Local Plan period 

in 2011 (target 481 homes 

annually)  

 5,291  

(11 years x 

481 

homes)   

N/A 

This is an annual figure which will 

be reported at the end of Q4 

2021/22 

Number of new 

Neighbourhood Plans made 

 2  N/A This is an annual figure which will 

be reported at the end of Q4 

2021/22 

Number of new locations for 

mobile CCTV cameras in 

partnership with local 

stakeholders including 

parish and town councils to 

help make our communities 

safer. 

 5 N/A The suitability of any new location 

is based upon need and evidence 

and will be deployed in 

partnership with the Joint Action 

Group 

Three new mobile CCTV camera 

locations will be introduced in 

Castle Donington with 

installations scheduled to take 

place in January. The exact 

locations are still to be determined 

but will be located at hotspots in 

the area as part of the “Safer 

Streets’ initiative. 

Officers are working with 

Ravenstone, Ibstock and 

Measham Parish Councils on 

possible new locations. 

 

31



Local People live in high quality, affordable homes  

Our aims  

Increase the number of affordable homes in the district  

Improve the quality of our council housing – Improve the quality of private rented accommodation  

Key tasks 2021/22 Quarter 2 Performance 

New Council Housing Supply – ensure we deliver at 
least 10 additional NWL Council Homes.  
 
In progress 
 

There is one acquisition pending through the acquisitions 
programme which is due to complete in quarter four. 
Furthermore, there are 7 section 106 units which the 
Council is due to purchase forecast for completion within 
the year alongside a further 9 that are currently forecast 
to complete between quarter 4 of 2021/22 and quarter 2 
of 2022/23 
There are two new build units due to start on site within 
the year with completions forecast for 2022/23 

New Council Housing Supply - Complete feasibility 
assessment of potential new Council Housing build 
across the district, and progress to Planning 
Application stage if viable.  
 
In progress 
 

Feasibility work has been carried out in relation to several 
sites including greenfield and formally developed Council 
owned land as well market opportunities which already 
have outline planning consent. 
There is currently one site with a submitted planning 
application pending a permission and a further four where 
external specialists have now been engaged. 

New Housing Supply - Work with housing 
associations & partners to deliver over 100 new 
affordable homes per year to help meet local housing 
needs. 
 
Achieved  
 

At the end of quarter two 149 new affordable homes had 
been completed this year. This included 65 units at the 
new Extra Care scheme in Ashby developed EMH with 
support from the Council and which has been over 5 
years in the planning. 
We are currently forecasting an outturn of circa 220 units 
this year. 

Maintaining & Improving Council Tenants Homes - 
Complete a programme of investment of up to £4.5m 
of improvement works to maintain our tenant’s homes 
at the Decent Homes standard.   
 
In progress 

From the provisional program provided, work to the value 
of £1.3 million had been completed by the end of Q2.     
The provisional program was finalised in August by 
colleagues in Asset Management and revised plans to 
deliver are being produced.   
 
 

Commence a programme of additional improvement 
works, worth up to £2.4m to complete improvement 
works deferred from 2020/21 as a result of the Covid-
19 pandemic. 
 
In progress 

Work deferred from 2020/21 is now to be spread over 
more than one year.  The finalisation of the program is 
referred to above.  As these works together with the 
works noted above exceeds the establishment of the in-
house team some sourcing of temporary labour and/or 
sub-contracting is being explored.   
 

Maintaining Our Council Homes Estates - Invest up to 
£1.06m in estate improvements to improve the quality 
of life for residents of Council estates, including our 
tenants.  
 
In progress 
 

Parking Improvements - Various sites are at the 
following stages - feasibility, design, planning and on 
site.  
Sites underway and completed: 

 Ridgway Road – Completion due end of Oct 21 

 New Street, Measham – Complete 

 Clements Gate Service Road – In Progress 

 Main Street, Long Whatton – Est. start Dec 21 

 Melrose Road, Thringstone – Est. start Jan 22 

Sites at the design/feasibility stage: 

 Melrose Road, Thringstone 

 Haslyn Walk 

 The Biggin 

 Cropston Drive 

32



 Covert Place  

 Ramscliffe Avenue 

 Riverway Estate 

Demolitions – a number of garage sites and buildings 
have been surveyed and prioritised for demolition based 
on their current condition.  
 
Scooter Stores - Four sites had been identified requiring 
this provision as part of the compliance with the fire 
safety regulations. Wakefield Court is scheduled to be 
installed in November 2021 and the other three 
remaining sites require consultation on the location of 
the units prior to works starting, with expected delivery 
and installation in early 2022. 
 
Estate Projects - The replacement of two footbridges on 
the Riverway Estate, Measham is currently being 
reviewed. Procuring a contractor to deliver this specialist 
work is in progress to complete within this financial year. 
 
Fencing – A pilot study was undertaken on the Riverway 
Estate on Pipit Close in the previous financial year to 
improve the appearance of the stores, garages and 
fencing. A second phase of work is now planned after 
further consultation with the residents. 
 
Cropston Drive Community Garden – The Tenants 
Association on the Greenhill estate are being supported 
to improve their community garden.  Our contractor 
Alliance have agreed to assist as gesture of good will.  
 

Other Housing Actions - Obtain Planning Permission, 
appoint a contractor and complete the delivery of the 
redevelopment of Appleby Magna Caravan Park, to 
provide a modern fit for purpose environment for the 
residents.    
 
In progress 
 

Planning permission is obtained, a contractor has 
appointed subject to contract. Start on site is anticipated 
for 7th March 2022 with a completion date of 15th May. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

33



Local People live in high quality, affordable homes – performance indicators 

Performance Indicator 

2020-21 

Actual Target 21/22 Performance Commentary 

Percentage of major 

residential development 

schemes scoring / performing 

positively 

 

100% 90% 
 

All four major applications approved 

in Q2 scored positively. 

Percentage of major planning 

applications determined 

within 13 weeks 

 

100% 75% 
 100% of major planning applications 

have been determined within 13 

weeks which is above the specified 

target. 

Percentage of minor planning 

applications determined 

within 8 weeks 

88.50% 80% 
 

88.5% of minor planning 

applications have been determined 

within 8 weeks which is above the 

specified target. 

Percentage of other planning 

applications determined 

within 8 weeks 

88.4% 85% 
 

88.4% of other planning applications 

have been determined within 8 

weeks which is above the specified 

target. 

Percentage of all repairs 

completed within target 

98.2% 94% 
 

Performance has exceeded target 

for the 2nd successive quarter.  The 

cumulative total for the year to date 

is 97.9% which also exceeds target.   

With covid safe restrictions which 

continued for most of the 2nd quarter 

it has been a challenge for the team 

to exceed target.  That has been 

achieved by utilising resources from 

across all parts of the service when 

required.  

Average length of time taken 

to re-let a Council property 

when it becomes vacant 

40 days 25 days 

 
 

During Q2, 78 properties have been 

let in an average of 40 days each 

which is an increase of 15 days 

when compared to Q1 although 

30% more properties were let in Q2 

including some sheltered scheme 

properties which had been empty 

for longer periods affecting the 

average re-let time. Covid 19 

related changes to working 

arrangements were also in place 

until mid-August 2021 which 

restricted the number of operatives 

34



in a property at any one time which 

were not anticipated at the time the 

target of 25 days was set.  This 

together with reduced resources 

available due to testing, training, 

and implementation of the new 

Housing IT system during Q3 will 

mean the anticipated year end 

performance will be between 35-40 

days.  The cumulative performance 

is 34 days. 

Number of New Council 

Homes delivered within year. 

Built, Purchased, or through 

S106 Bid  

 

 

0 10 
 

Narrative as per key task above 

Number of New affordable 

homes delivered by Housing 

Associations & Partners 

within the year. 

149 100 
 This new indicator will show new 

homes for rent delivered via 

Housing Associations & Partners.  

Number, type & Value of 

components improved across 

NWL Council Homes in year. 

Bathrooms, Kitchens, 

Electrical Rewire, Roof, 

Heating or Other 

 

 

Total Spend 

£1.3m  

 

 

 

 

 

 

£6.9m 

 
There are a current total of 1213 

components on the 2021/22 

Housing Investment Programme 

(HIP) with 224 completed by the 

end of Q2. Current invoiced 

expenditure is at £1,298,719.28. 

Covid restrictions in the early part 

of the year have compromised the 

amount of work that could be 

completed, with a significant period 

when no internal work at all could 

be undertaken.  Now these 

restrictions have been removed we 

are facing challenges in sourcing 

some materials as are the rest of 

the industry.  There is a significant 

amount of work still to be 

completed in Q3 and Q4 and 

options to address this are under 

consideration. 

Number, type & value of 

adaptions to homes for our 

most vulnerable tenants 

£112k 

completed 

£117k in 

progress 

£300k 
 

26 major adaptions have been 

completed at a cost of £112k, with a 

further 29 ordered at a value of 

£117k.  Delays in processing the 

assessments by County Council 

Occupational Therapists are being 

monitored closely. 

35



Support for businesses and helping people into local jobs 

Our aims  

Match local people with skills and jobs – Support new and growing businesses to create jobs – Help young people 

into work  

Key tasks 2021/22 Quarter 2 Performance 

Update the North West Leicestershire Economic 
Growth Plan and commence delivery.  
 
In progress 
 

A review of the NWL Growth Plan is underway which will 
demonstrate a Golden Thread to targets within the 
Council Delivery Plan. Delivery of activities to support 
economic growth continues whilst the plan is refreshed 

Enable business growth and inward investment in 
North West Leicestershire that contributes to the 
objectives of NWL Economic Growth Plan.  
 
In progress 
 

We continue to support growth and inward investment 
particularly at our major distribution and employment 
sites such as Segro and Bardon etc. A list of successful 
inward investments will be produced at year end. 

Preserve the vibrancy of our High Streets by 
supporting Shop Local initiatives designed to reduce 
vacancy rates.  
 
In progress 

We have implemented a programme of initiatives on our 
high streets designed to make them more attractive 
places to shop. In particular we have aligned car park 
charges in the main shopper car parks in Coalville to 
ensure the first three hours of parking are free, carried out 
a deep cleanse of our pavements. Introduced shopping 
information points and commissioned street entertainers. 
Later this year we plan to introduce a local shopping 
loyalty card. 
 

Develop our “visitor economy” offer to encourage 
dwell time, local spend and investment in new and 
improved attractions. 
 
In progress 

We have developed a revised visitor economy plan 
designed to achieve dwell time, spend and investment. 
This will be presented to Scrutiny Committee and Cabinet 
in Q3.  

Working with our leisure centre construction 
contractor increase local employment, training, and 
apprenticeship opportunities with a key focus on local 
supply chains in the construction of the new Whitwick 
and Coalville Leisure Centre.  
 
In progress 
 

Works to ensure maximum social value is achieved 

because of the delivery of the leisure centre are ongoing 

with all key parties engaging well in the process. 

Metnor Construction, the contractor responsible for the 

project on site, is actively engaging with the council to 

track social value performance and to help identify other 

opportunities to create jobs and increase local spend. 

To date, over 40 local companies have been engaged as 

part of the construction of the new leisure centre which is 

likely to increase further by the time the leisure centre is 

completed. 

To date, over £2.9m has been spent locally either through 

staff accommodation and expenses or through local 

materials and suppliers.    

12 new jobs have been created for local people since the 
works started on site and at least 4 work experience 
placements have been offered. 
To date, the team have engaged with over 200 school 
pupils and college students, and they continue to liaise 
with several other schools / colleges to see what interest 
is out there as we continue to complete the works on site.   

Contribute to the work of the East Midlands 
Development Corporation (EMDevCo) Interim Vehicle 
in implementing Year One deliverables included in the 
Business Plan. This includes developing a strategic 

 We continue to work with the EMDevCo to develop their 
business plan 

36



masterplan/infrastructure plan and delivery strategy 
for the East Midlands Airport Area.    
 
In progress 
 

Contribute to the establishment of the East Midlands 
Freeport with private sector businesses, other local 
authorities, and government.   
 
In progress 
 

 The establishment of the Freeport is continuing 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

37



Support for businesses and helping people into local jobs  

Performance Indicators 

Match local people with skills and jobs – Support new and growing businesses to create jobs – Help young people 

into work  

 

Performance Indicator 

2020-21 

Actual Target 21/22 Performance Commentary 

Support Inward Investment to 

the District  

 5 large 

Businesses per 

year  

1000 new jobs 

per year 

£1,000,000 of 

investment per 

year 

N/A Annual target with performance to 
be reported at end of year  

Businesses supported to 

recover from the impacts of 

Covid-19 

 £500,000 of 

Restart Grant 

shared between 

up to 50 

businesses. 

£250,000 of 

Growth Grant 

shared between 

up to 10 

businesses 

N/A 

Annual target with performance to 

be reported at end of year  

2021/22 target to reflect specific 

time-limited grant programme  

Increase the number of jobs 

in the tourism sector in the 

District 

 

 2% N/A Report providing required metrics 

will be available in Q4, 

*note - figure reduced by 59% 

from Dec 2019 due to Covid- 19. 

Up to date information will be 

reported at the year end.  

Increase annual Visitor spend 

 

 

 2% 

 

 

 

N/A Report providing required metrics 

will be available in Q4, 

*note – figure reduced by 62% 

from Dec 2019 due to Covid-19. 

Up to date information will be 

reported at the year end.  

Increase the number of 

overnight stays in NWL year 

on year 

 2% N/A Report providing required metrics 

will be available in Q4, 

*note – figure reduced by 63% 

from Dec 2019 due to Covid-19 

38



Up to date information will be 

reported at the year end.  

 

Work with schools / colleges 

and local businesses to 

improve employment skills / 

opportunities. 

 Work with 5 

schools per year 

across the 

district 

N/A 
Accessing schools and colleges 

remains difficult due to Covid 

measures  

Support Market Town 

Businesses to respond to 

transformational 

opportunities 

 

 Deliver 5 Digital 

Growth Training 

Sessions. 

Support 25 

businesses to 

Access Digital 

Growth Training. 

Provide £10,000 

of Digital Growth 

Grants 

 
Delivery of Digital Programmes 

continues, and we are on course to 

meet the target 

% of construction materials 

used in the construction of the 

new Whitwick and Coalville 

Leisure Centre that are 

sourced in the local area. 

32% 40% 
 

Local sourcing of materials and 

supplies ranging from aggregate, 

brickwork, roofing material etc.  

Total project target is 60% across 

all financial years with the bulk 

expected in 2021/22. 

. 

Local economic value to the 

local area as a result of the 

construction of the new 

Whitwick and Coalville 

Leisure Centre. (Target 

£2.2m) 

£525K £0.4m 
 

Local economic value includes 

accommodation; labour spend in 

local shops; materials and 

supplies etc. 

Target for total project is £2.2m 

and thus far we’ve achieved 

£2.911m. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

39



Developing a clean and green district  

Our aims  

Lead by example by delivering the council’s Zero Carbon Roadmap’s Action Plan and ambition to be zero carbon for 

its operations by 2030 – Reduce littering and fly tipping – Promote the work of the National Forest  

Key tasks 2021/22 Quarter 2 Performance 

Increase recycling rates by at least 1% per annum 
through our Recycle more campaign. 
 
In progress 
 

Data not available as the recycling rate for the district for 
2021/22 will be confirmed by Defra in December 2022. 
However, during this quarter 3.3kg less of black bin waste 
is being disposed of by each household than the target of 
125kg, which is encouraging. 

Support towns and villages to develop an identity 
associated with the National Forest open spaces. 
 
In progress 
 

We have continued to work with the National Forest to 
develop the following initiatives: 

 Heart of The Forest masterplan. A first draft has 
been circulated to partners for comment by the 
National Forest. Wider consultation was 
commenced in Q2.  Further progress on this is 
anticipated in Q3. 

 Sustainable Tourism Accommodation design 
guide and Accelerator Programme, which is due 
to be launched in December 

Review our employee travel and allowances to help 
deliver the Zero Carbon Roadmap. 
 
In progress 
 

A report has been considered and agreed by Corporate 
Leadership Team and negotiations around a number of 
options are underway. 

Explore the setting up of a Carbon offset fund as part 
of the Local Planning process. 
 
In progress 
 

Discussion taking place with consultants regarding 
commission of work to develop a Carbon offset fund. 

Develop a council wide strategy for more Electric 
Vehicle charging points on council car parks, housing 
land and corporate property land. Initial installations to 
be made at Lindon Way Depot to support electric 
vehicle trials 
 
In progress 
 

Installations at Lindon Way depot to support vehicles 
trials are complete. Coalville installation is due to be 
completed at Margaret St car park by the end October 
2021.  Feasibility studies at 2 car park locations in 
Measham have been commissioned and a further 
installation may be undertaken dependent on the 
feasibility analysis and further funding approval from 
OZEV 
Whilst Phase 1 of the strategy is focused on council 

owned public car parks, Phase 2 will consider 

opportunities on council owned properties, including the 

council offices, and housing land. 

Discussion underway for provision at the new Leisure 
Centre and as part of the Accommodation changes. 

Develop a fleet management strategy to transition our 
fleet to a zero carbon/low carbon solution by 2030 and 
start the first phase of procurement and purchase of 
vehicles. 
 
Achieved  

This objective has been delivered in this quarter. The 
council’s consultants have supported the development of 
a detailed policy and action plan which was received well 
at the council’s Corporate Scrutiny Committee in 
September and was adopted by Cabinet on 21st 
September.  Officers are now engaged with the delivery 
of the action plan. 
 
 

Develop a property portfolio action plan and retrofit 
programme to make our assets fit for purpose and 
reduce our carbon footprint.     
 

Capita have been commissioned to assess our 
commercial property portfolio and recommend actions to 
improve carbon efficiency. The report is expected to be 
delivered within the 2021/22 year. 

40



In progress 
 

Develop and implement a new taskforce to tackle litter 
across the district by enhancing the work of 
volunteers and aligning with the work carried out by 
street cleansing.  
 
In progress 
 

The taskforce is currently finalising the zero-litter 

campaign document to be presented at Cabinet in 

January 2022. 

  

However, the work on tackling littering and fly tipping 

continues and current figures are: 

  

 Distributed over £7300 of kit from the allocated 
budget for litter picking equipment to parish 
councils and individual litter pickers   

 Held 14 campaigns which resulted in 42 littering 
cases being investigated and 22 FPNS being 
issued  

 Issued 2 FPNs for fly tipping  

 Held educational talks with workers at Tulips, 
Coalville to advise them not to drop cigarette 
ends during breaks. Monitoring at this site will 
continue to check for compliance – Bins have 
since been installed and being serviced by Tulips 
at the company’s expense.  There’s clear 
evidence already that workers are using the bins 
which has had positive effect on the area in 
regard to the litter problem. 

 

Deliver improvements to 56 of the least energy 
efficient Council tenant’s homes through the Green 
Homes Grant Local Authority Delivery Phase 1B 
Programme, including the installation of additional 
insulation, air source heat pump systems, and 
photovoltaic electricity generation. 
  
Achieved  

The Green Homes Grant programme has progressed 
very well, and we have completed works to all the 56 
properties required by our grant conditions.  
 
Measures undertaken include Air Source Heat Pump and 
insultation installation as well as solar photovoltaic roof 
panels with a battery backup system. 
 
A total of 104 properties were considered for the 
programme, with works not progressing at some 
properties due to inaccurate EPC data, and tenant 
refusals. 
 
Post work completion surveys with tenants are now being 
undertaken and the outcome will be reported back when 
available. 
 
Following the successful completion of this work we have 
been awarded additional funding by BEIS for works to a 
further 10 properties at Bakewell Court in Coalville, which 
must be completed by 31 March 2022.  These will be 
using the new and more detailed quality assessment 
process (PAS 2035) and will provide a valuable learning 
opportunity as part of our preparations for more ambitious 
Zero Carbon Retrofit programme in subsequent years. 
 

Reduce carbon emissions at the new Whitwick and 
Coalville Leisure Centre and Ashby Leisure Centre by 
20% by 2024. 
 
In progress 
 

The council’s leisure partner, Everyone Active, continue 
to reduce carbon emissions at Ashby Leisure Centre and 
Lido. Actions taken include. 

 The replacement of the Combined Heat and 
Power (CHP) unit with a Discount Energy 
Purchase (DEP) unit 

 The replacement of 2 lido pool pumps with lower 
energy units 

41



 The replacement of internal lighting with LED 

lamps 

 The reduction of pool temperatures by 0.5C 
 The installation of timers on car park and astro-

turf pitches 
In addition, the use of plastics has been reduced through 
the removal of plastic overshoes and the replacement of 
plastic cups with compostable cups in vending machines, 
and users of the centre are encouraged to use forms of 
active travel to access the centre through the installation 
of bike racks, the displaying of bus timetables, and 
encouraging car sharing. 
At the new Whitwick and Coalville Leisure Centre – The 
new leisure centre will achieve a BREEAM Excellent 
rating that demonstrates a sustainability-focussed 
approach to the building and operating of the facility.  The 
building incorporates a photovoltaic (PV) array mounted 
on the roof; EV charging bays in the carpark; energy-
efficient LED lighting throughout and smart building 
controls via a state-of-the-art building management 
system (BMS).  At the conclusion of 12 months from 
opening a review of the heating, cooling and electrical 
installations will be undertaken to ensure the building is 
operating efficiently, with any recommendations for 
improvement being taken forward accordingly. 
 

Reduce vehicle emissions from licensed Hackney 
Carriage and Private Hire vehicles by encouraging 
taxi operators to move to vehicles that emit lower 
emissions (Euro 5). 
 
In progress 
 

Licensing policy requires all hackney carriage and private 
hire vehicles to be fitted with a euro 5 or 6 engine at the 
time of their licence renewal. A 15% discount on licence 
fees is offered to vehicles owners as an incentive. 
Monthly updates are provided to licence holders to 
encourage owners to replace vehicles with euro 4 
engines. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

42



Developing a clean and green district - Performance indicators 

  

Lead by example by delivering the council’s Zero Carbon Roadmap’s Action Plan and ambition to be zero carbon for 

its operations by 2030 – Reduce littering and fly tipping – Promote the work of the National Forest  

 

Performance Indicator 

2020-21 

Actual Target 21/22 Performance Commentary 

Number of trees delivered to 

the local community to 

increase the number of trees 

in the district's National 

Forest area 

 13,000 N/A We are currently advertising the 

scheme and promoting it throughout the 

district.  The scheme will be open from 

Monday 11 October for applications 

and closes on Friday 29 October 2021 

Percentage increase on 

yearly recycling rate by 1% 

 1% N/A The household recycling rate for the 

district won’t be confirmed by Defra for 

2021/22 until December 2022. 

Amount in kgs of household 

waste sent to landfill per 

house, per year 

121.7Kgs 125kgs 
 

-3.3kg 

 

The amount of non-recyclable waste 

sent to landfill, refuse derived fuel or 

energy from waste collected from each 

household during this quarter is 3.3kg 

less than the target. This is 

encouraging as it means residents are 

disposing less waste in the black bin 

than the target level. 

% of the taxi vehicle fleet that 

are fitted with a Euro 5 

engine or higher 

94% 93% 
 

181 of 191 

licensed 

vehicles are 

fitted with a 

Euro 5 or 6 

engine 

 

Licensing policy requires all hackney 

carriage and private hire vehicles to be 

fitted with a euro 5 or 6 engine at the 

time of their licence renewal. A 15% 

discount on licence fees is offered to 

vehicles owners as an incentive. 

Monthly updates are provided to licence 

holders to encourage owners to replace 

vehicles with euro 4 engines. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

43



 

Value for money performance indicators (No CDP actions for VFM) 
 
 

Performance Indicator  Actual Target 21/22 Performance Commentary 

Percentage of rent loss 0.98% 0.75% 

 

           
The amount of rent loss for Q2 
reflects an increase in the total 
number of properties that have 
become empty during 2021/22, 
which is 152 compared to 129 for the 
same period last year. During Q2 
Covid restrictions have continued it 
influence performance due to 
restrictions in the number of 
operatives conducting repairs in a 
property at any time until mid-
August 2021. The cumulative 
performance for the year is 0.98%. 

Percentage of Council Tax 

Collected (in year target) 

55.2% 96.7% 
 

Performance is in a better position 

than the same time last 

year.  Recovery and enforcement 

continues to try and secure 

payment from those in default.  It 

should be noted that more 

customers are presenting with 

difficulties with repayment. 

Percentage of National Non-

Domestic Rates (in year 

target) 

51.5 % 99.20% 
 

Business Rates collection is a 

significantly better position 

compared to the same time last 

year, though collection does still 

present a challenge. The team 

continue to support customers that 

are experiencing difficulty with 

payment as a result of covid 

recovery.  We await details of the 

new Business Rates relief fund of 

£1.5 billion for businesses affected 

by COVID-19 outside the retail, 

hospitality and leisure sectors.  It is 

hoped this will be able to provide 

support businesses that weren’t 

eligible for grants.   

  

Number of days taken to 

process new claims 

 

17.3 18.7 days 
 

There has been in month 

improvement during the quarter, 

reducing the processing days.  Work 

has been undertaken to ensure this 

direction of travel continues and the 

44



target continues to reduce.  The 

team have an additional pressure as 

they have responsibility for Test and 

Trace isolation support payments; 

this scheme has now been extended 

until March 2022. 

 

Percentage of rent collected 

from commercial tenants 

 98% N/A 
 

Percentage of commercial 

units occupied per annum 

100% 90% 
 

New lettings currently being 

completed will bring occupancy to 

100% of the available commercial 

stock. 

Amount of annual income 

achieved by the In-house 

Repairs Team  

£1,146,562 £1,300,000 
 

Considering the covid restrictions to 

keep tenants and staff safe that 

continued for the majority of Q2 the 

performance of the team has seen 

income exponentially increase over 

the first 2 quarters. Further 

acceleration is planned following 

recruitment to a new structure which 

is likely to come on stream in Q3 and 

Q4. 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

45



Sickness Report Q2 

 

1.1 In Q2 (2021/22) there were 1940 FTE days lost due to sickness. This equates to 4.05 days lost per 

full time equivalent employee (FTE). The rate of sickness is significantly higher than Q1 (2.65 

days/fte) as well as the corresponding period in the previous FY (1.30 days/fte).  

 

1.2 Projecting ahead, the annual absence rate will be 13.4 days/fte against a corporate target of 8.0 

days. Absence due to Covid-19 is not included in the sickness figures unless the employee tests 

positive or become unwell after receiving a vaccination. This approach is in line with NJC 

guidance. 

 

1.3 Housing (5.81 days/FTE), Community Services (5.16 days/FTE) and Planning and Regeneration 

(2.27 days/FTE) were the work areas with the highest levels of sickness in this Quarter.  

 

1.4 70% of all sickness in Housing occurred in Housing Repairs. The main reasons for sickness in this 

team were work related stress (27%), Musculoskeletal (26%) and personal stress (16%) 

 

1.5 More than 80% of all sickness in Community Services occurred in Waste Services. The most 

common reasons for sickness in Waste Services were Musculoskeletal (31%), Covid-19 (24%) and 

personal stress (9%). 

 

1.6 Almost all sickness in Housing (83%) and Community Services (72%) was the result of long-term 

sickness. Long term sickness is defined as any period of sickness lasting 10 days or more.  

 

1.7 Across the organisation Musculoskeletal accounted for 27% of all sickness - this was the most 

common reasons for sickness. Stress related absence contributed a 22% share of all sickness (13% 

personal stress; 9% work related). Covid-19 was the third most common reason for sickness – 21%.  

 

1.8 Out of a total of 239 instances of sickness in the period 45 were due to musculoskeletal, of which 

all but 3 have returned back to work. There were 56 instances of absence due to Covid19 and 16 

cases of resulting from cold and flu symptoms.  

 

1.9 In order to minimise cold and flu related absence this winter the council is offering free flu 

vaccination vouchers to all employees who are not eligible for a free flu vaccine through the NHS.   

 

1.10 Managers and Senior HR advisors closely monitor and manage long term cases in conjunction 

with Occupational Health and their line managers. Where needed, employees have been referred 

to Everyday Advice Line, the council’s employee assistance plan. 

 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

46



Health and Safety Update Q2 

 
 

 

1.1 There have been 22 accidents to employees reported to the end of the period this 
year, no accidents to visitors were reported. One accident was  reportable and there 
were 3 near misses logged. All accidents and near misses were investigated and 
measures put in place to minimise re-occurrence. 
 

1.2 The average number of accidents have been stable since 2005, running at 
approximately 1 per week or 51.15 annually. 

 

1.3 Stringent procedures and testing are in place to manage the risk of Legionella in 
Council property.  Regular testing takes place at the Main Council Offices, Sheltered 
Housing schemes, and at Parks and sports pavilions throughout the district.  

 

1.4 Risk assessments have been completed for all tasks completed across the Councils 
workforce. During the pandemic there has been an emphasis on COVID risk 
assessments at both occupation and individual levels. These continue to be updated 
to reflect the changing situation. 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

47



Customer Feedback 

 

 
 

 
 
 

48



Customer Services Call Centre Statistics Graphs 

 
Volume of calls continue to remain high with some respite in August, which shows in the percentage 
answered and abandoned.  Call waiting time saw an increase in August due to talk time increasing, a 
technical issue with a system outage and a bank holiday affecting service. 
 
Despite this the quarter as a whole saw target achieved for calls answered with YTD target on track.   

  

49



Finance 

General Fund Annual Budgeted 
Position 

Q2 Annual 
Forecast Position 

Forecast Variance Movement from Q1 

Budgeted 
Surplus/(Deficit) 

£1,102,000 £142,000 (£960,000) (£102,000) 

The general fund forecast outturn has fallen by £102,000 since quarter 1. Significant movements from quarter one 
are: 

- £357,000 favourable movement in leisure services, which is due to the additional support costs for 
the leisure contractor coming significantly below expectations.  

- Additional costs of £118,000 from for rent allowances.  
- Increase in staffing costs for the planning team, totalling £110,000.  
- £49,000 additional IT costs, resulting from less recharging of printing costs across the business.  

 
Included within the annual forecast position are savings for the year totalling £570,000. As at period 6, total spend on 
the general fund was £5.0 million compared to a full year budget spend of £16.0 million. This means there remains 
significant opportunity to reduce forecast spend during the year, but if this is not achieved then there is a risk of the 
general fund slipping into a deficit position that will need to be funded by the journey to self-sufficiency reserves.   

Housing Revenue 
Account 

Annual Budgeted 
Position 

Q2 Annual 
Forecast Position 

Forecast Variance Movement from Q1 

Budgeted 
Surplus/(Deficit) 

£35,000 (£84,250) (£119,250) £15,230 

The HRA forecast deficit of £84,000 is a £15,000 improvement on last quarter. During the quarter the forecast rental 
income has fallen by £24,000 due to a larger number of properties becoming vacant during the period, which has 
been offset by lower forecast salary costs. 
 
The HRA forecast position includes assumed savings of £225,000 during the year. The total spend on the HRA at 
period 6 was £3.9 million against a budget of £11.0 million, meaning these remains opportunity to identify these 
savings. However, as with the general fund, it means there is a risk the HRA could slip into a further deficit position, 
which can be funded through the HRA working balances of £6.3 million.  
 

Special Expenses Annual Budgeted 
Position 

Q2 Annual 
Forecast Position 

Forecast Variance Movement from Q1 

Budgeted Contribution 
to/(from) Reserves 

(£113,000) (£84,000) £29,000 (£19,000) 

The forecast contribution from special expenses reserves has increased by £19,000 since quarter one, as money not 
spent on events this year is earmarked to be used for events next year.  

General Fund Capital 
Programme 

Annual Budgeted 
Position  

Q2 Annual 
Forecast Position 

Forecast Variance Movement from Q1 

Budgeted 
Expenditure 

£22.3 million £16.9 million £5.4 million (£3.8 million) 

Total spend on the general fund capital programme in quarter two was £6.7 million, which was mainly due to spend 
on the new leisure centre, at £6.4 million. 

50



The forecast annual position has reduced by £5.4 million to £16.9 million. Of this £5.4 million, £4.7 million is expected 
to be carried forward into 2022/23. This includes £2.5 million for replacing vehicles, which have been on hold pending 
the development of a new fleet management strategy and £1.6 million for the Marlborough Square Improvements. 
 
£729,000 of savings have also been identified from the capital programme, including £430,000 following the approval 
of the new accommodation project and £155,000 on the redevelopment of Apply Magna Caravan Site.  

Housing Revenue 
Account  Capital 
Programme 

Annual Budgeted 
Position 

Q2 Annual 
Forecast Position 

Forecast Variance Movement from Q1 

Budgeted 
Expenditure 

£14.4 million £11.6 million (£2.8 million) (£0.3 million) 

Total spend on the HRA Capital Programme in quarter two was £2.4 against a capital programme of £14.4 million. 
The forecast outturn for the year have been revised down by £0.3 million from the previous report, which is due to 
the planned speech module improvement in our supported housing being carried forward into the next year capital 
programme.  

 

 

 

 
 

51



This page is intentionally left blank



NORTH WEST LEICESTERSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
CORPORATE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE – WEDNESDAY, 10 
NOVEMBER 2021 
 
 

Title of Report 
 

REVIEW OF MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN 

Presented by Dan Bates 
Head of Finance and Section 151 Officer  
 

Background Papers Review of Medium Term 
Financial Plan – Cabinet – 
September 2021 
 
Medium Term Financial 
Strategy – Council – 26 
February 2019 
 
Budget 2021/22 – Council 
– 23 February 2021 

Public Report: Yes 

Financial Implications The medium term financial plan sets out the indicative five 
year financial position for the council, and should be 
considered when making strategic decisions. 
 
There remains significant uncertainty around the general 
fund’s funding position over the medium term. The report sets 
out optimistic and pessimistic scenarios for the future, but 
under all scenarios structural deficits arise within the medium 
term.  
 
The HRA, as a self-financing account, remains healthy, with 
occasional deficits over the five year period driven by the 
need to fund the HRA capital programme. Deficits are fully 
funded through the HRA’s working balances.  
 

Signed off by the Section 151 Officer: Yes 
 

Legal Implications There are no direct legal implications  
 

 

Signed off by the Monitoring Officer: Yes 
 

Staffing and Corporate 
Implications 
 

There are no immediate staffing or corporate implications. 
However, over the medium term there may be significant 
implications if the Council’s key funding sources reduce as 
expected.  
 

 

Signed off by the Head of Paid Service: Yes 
 

Reason Agenda Item 
Submitted to Scrutiny 
Committee 
 
 

To Present Members with the Council’s revised Medium Term 
Financial Plans and invite members to contribute ideas to the 
2022-23 budget setting process.   
 

53

Agenda Item 7.

http://prod-modgov:9070/documents/s34813/Review%20of%20Medium%20Term%20Financial%20Plan%20Cabinet%20Report.pdf
http://prod-modgov:9070/documents/s34813/Review%20of%20Medium%20Term%20Financial%20Plan%20Cabinet%20Report.pdf
http://prod-modgov:9070/documents/s30832/2021%20-%202026%20Medium%20Term%20Financial%20Plans%20Cabinet%20Report.pdf?$LO$=1
http://prod-modgov:9070/documents/s30832/2021%20-%202026%20Medium%20Term%20Financial%20Plans%20Cabinet%20Report.pdf?$LO$=1
http://prod-modgov:9070/documents/s31007/Budget%20and%20Council%20Tax%20202122%20Council%20Report.pdf


 

Recommendations THAT THE CORPORATE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE: 
 

1. PROVIDE ANY COMMENTS THAT IT MAY HAVE 
ON THE REVISED MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL 
PLANS. 
 

2. PROVIDE ANY SUGGESTIONS THAT IT MAY 
WANT CONSIDERED AS PART OF THE 2022/23 
BUDGET SETTING PROPOSALS. 

 

 
1. BACKGROUND 
 

1.1 Each year, as part of the budget setting process, the Council revises its medium term 
financial plans to support strategic decision making during the budget setting process. 
This initially starts with a review of the underlying assumptions to identify the likely 
future income for the council. The plans are then subsequently updated with revised 
expenditure plans once the budget processes have completed.  

 
2. GENERAL FUND MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN 

 
2.1 The previous medium term financial plan, reported to Council in February 2021, 

estimated that the general fund would suffer a £10.3 million deficit over the five-year 
period.  This deficit was caused by anticipated changes in government policy that 
would see the council lose significant amounts of funding. The shortfall would be offset 
by making savings over the five-year period, totalling £5.1 million, and the remaining 
shortfall would be covered by the Journey to Self Sufficiency Reserve. 

 
2.2 In updating the plan, officers have developed optimistic and pessimistic scenarios for 

how the Council’s finances may change over the next five years. These are 
summarised in the graph below.  

 

 
 
2.3 Overall, each scenario shows a downward trajectory for the Council’s surpluses and 

shows that we expect the Council’s general fund to fall into a deficit position in the 
medium term unless action is taken.  

 
2.4 The drops are caused by the anticipated resetting of the business rates retention 

scheme. This scheme allows local authorities to keep a proportion of the growth in 

54



 

business rates within its area, with the baseline reset periodically. That reset is now 
long overdue, as it is part of Government’s wider reviews into local authority funding. 
The latest expectation is that Government will not reset the business rates until 
2023/24, giving North West Leicestershire another year before business rate income 
may drop.  

 
2.5 Other key assumptions included within the modelling are: 

 
2.5.1 Council Tax. The Council tax base is assumed to grow in each case, with 1.26% per 

year used in the baseline and pessimistic scenarios and 2.15% in the optimistic. Within 
the optimistic, it’s also assumed that the council increases the council tax charge by 
the maximum amount possible from 2024/25, which is the first budget set after the next 
district election. Under the pessimistic scenario, it’s assumed that collection rates drop 
by 1 percentage point and council tax remains frozen throughout the period. This 
leaves the total income from council tax over the five years varying from £28.0 million 
in the pessimistic scenario to £28.8 million in the optimistic, with the baseline projection 
being £28.3 million.  

 
2.5.2 New Homes Bonus. This is payments provided by central government to incentivise 

housing growth in districts. Government held a consultation on the future of the new 
home bonus earlier this calendar year. Our baseline assumption is that there will be 
one more legacy payment for 2022/23, totalling £0.9 million. The optimistic scenario 
assumes that the bonus continues, with £1.5 million received in 2022/23 and £1.1 
million thereafter. The pessimistic scenario assumes that it is withdrawn in the 
forthcoming spending review and we receive no bonus going forward.   

 
2.5.3 Business Rates Growth. In addition to when planned reforms will arise, there is 

assumed growth in business rates within the district. This varies from there being no 
growth in the pessimistic scenario, to 0.7% per year growth in the baseline and 2% 
growth in the optimistic scenario.  

 
2.5.4 Transitional Support. Government often provides local authorities with some form of 

transitional support when implementing major funding changes, to ensure councils 
have time to respond to changes in funding. Under the baseline scenario, it’s assumed 
that government funds 90% of the funding loss initially, with that then falling away each 
year. The optimistic case sees 95% of the loss funded, whilst the pessimistic sees 80% 
of the loss funded. These scenarios result in support of £3.3 million over five years in 
the pessimistic and baseline scenarios, with £0.6 million in the optimistic scenario. A 
further scenario is presented for no transitional support being provided on top of the 
pessimistic scenario, which is represented by the black dotted line.   

 
2.5.5 New Unknown Funding. Under the optimistic scenario, a new, currently unknown, 

funding source emerges that generates £1 million per year for the Council. Examples 
could be government funding for initiatives that we already undertake or are planning to 
in the medium term, such as free collection of garden or food waste. The baseline and 
pessimistic assumptions assume that no funding sources are found.  

 
2.5.6 Journey to Self Sufficiency Savings. The optimistic scenario assumes that the 

planned J2SS savings of £5.1 million over 5 years on the general fund are achieved. 
This assumption is not presented in the baseline and pessimistic scenarios so it is 
clear that action is required to balance the budget over the medium term.  

 
 
 
 

55



 

2.6 Journey to Self Sufficiency Reserves 
 
2.6.1 The Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy sought to mitigate against this risk by 

setting aside surpluses into a reserve, known as the Journey to Self Sufficiency 
Reserve. This currently sits at £6.2 million, and gives the Council resources to fund 
spend to save activities or offset some future years of deficits.  

 
2.6.2 The figure below shows how the J2SS reserve will fare in each scenario if it is used 

solely to offset future deficits. It shows that, without action, the J2SS reserve will be 
depleted in all but the optimistic scenario by 2025/26.  

 

 
 

3. HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN 
 
3.1 The previous medium term financial position, reported to Council in February 2021, 

estimated that the Housing Revenue Account would have a £1.9 million deficit over the 
five-year period. Unlike the General Fund, HRA is financially self-sufficient with a stable 
income stream from rents. The 5 year deficit is a result of large revenue contributions 
to capital to fund the HRA capital programme – a cost which is fully met from the 
HRA’s reserve position.    

  
Key assumptions 
 
3.2 The key assumptions underpinning the Housing Revenue Account medium-term 

financial plan are: 
 
3.2.1 Rents. This is the primary income for the HRA, with £17.4 million budgeted in 2021/22. 

Renting-setting is regulated by government, with the current policy limiting rent 
increases to CPI+1% each year until March 2025, which is built into our medium-term 
financial plans. For 2022-23, this means an assumed increase in rent of 4.1%. It is not 
known what the rent policy will be from 2025-26 onwards, but our current assumption is 
that rent increases will be in line with CPI. 

 

56



 

3.2.2  Right to buy sales. Whilst sales of council homes reduce our rental income, they also 
provide a large capital receipt that part funds the HRA capital programme – in 2020/21 
the Council retained £1.1 million from the sales for use in the capital programme.  

 
 Our assumption is that right to buy sales will continue at around 44 properties a year, 

which is based on the average of past sales excluding 2020/21, which saw a dip in 
sales as a result of the pandemic. We also assume that in 2025/26 we will see the 
number of sales start to decrease, which reflects the position seen nationally that, over 
time, right to buy sales start to decrease as house prices increase and most tenants 
who want to purchase their home would have.  

 

 
 

3.2.3  Inflation. Inflation increases both the rent we collect, but also the forecast cost 
increases within the medium term financial plan. The long term assumption for inflation 
is that it will increase by 2.0% each year. However, the latest forecasts from the Bank 
of England suggest there will be a short term spike in inflation in late 2021 for a year. 
The inflation forecasts have therefore been revised up 2.7% for 2022/23 and 3.3% for 
2023/24 in line with the Bank of England’s forecasts, before dropping back to the long-
term position of 2.0%.   

 
 
Latest Medium-Term Financial Position 
 
3.3 The revised five year surplus position for the HRA is shown in the table below, and 

shows a £1.7 million deficit over the 5 year period, an improvement of £0.2 million 
since the February 2021 report. This change is largely due to the increase in inflation 
on the figures, as higher inflation allows rents to increase more, which is then 
compounded over time.  

 
3.4 The table below shows the deficit is a result of the £26.1 million revenue contribution to 

the capital programme over the 5 years and represents the use of surpluses from 
previous years that are currently retained to be used flexibly in the future. This 
demonstrates the robustness of the HRA’s financial position in the medium term.  

 
 
 
 
 

 

57



 

  
2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 TOTAL 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Surplus/(Deficit) 
before 
adjustments 

3,460 3,998 4,525 4,826 4,938 21,751 

Revenue 
contributions to 
capital outlay 

-3,650 -6,136 -5,740 -5,500 -5,070 
- 
26,100 

Planned Journey 
to Self-
Sufficiency 
Savings 

225 325 575 625 900 2,650 

Predicted 
Surplus/(Deficit) 

35 -1,813 -640 -49 768 -1,699 

 
 

3.5 The challenge for the HRA in the medium term is responding to new emerging 
priorities, such as reducing the carbon footprint of our council homes, a potential new 
standard for the decency of our homes and Government’s new social housing white 
paper.   

 
4. 2022-23 BUDGET SETTING PROCESS 

 
4.1 The medium term financial position presented in this report shows that there are 

significant financial risks on the horizon for the Council, although uncertainty remains 
as to how and when they will crystalise and what the precise impact will be. It is, 
therefore, important to continue preparations that give the Council the agility to respond 
quickly if the risks identified within this report do materialise. 

 
4.2 The Council’s primary mitigation against the funding risk is the Journey to Self-

Sufficiency Programme (J2SS). The previously agreed five-year savings targets was 
reset for 2021/22, with a total of £7.8 million of savings planned over the next five years 
across both the general fund and housing revenue account. 

 
4.3 In addition, as part of the 2022-23 budget setting process officers are performing 

detailed reviews of budgets to identify budget savings, both for the current financial 
year and over the medium term. A revised budget timetable has been agreed with 
Cabinet in September 2021 to accommodate this work. The revised timetable includes: 

 

 November 2021: Corporate Scrutiny Committee considers the medium-
term financial position of the Council and members are invited to provide 
suggestions for the 2022-23 budget. That is the purpose of this report.  

  

 December 2021: Corporate Scrutiny Committee will be presented with the 
draft budgets and proposals for scrutiny. 

 

 January 2022: Cabinet will be asked to review and approve the draft 
budgets for a shorter, three-week public consultation. 

 

 February 2022: Cabinet will be asked to recommend the final budgets for 
approval at full Council in the same month.  

 

58



 

4.4 As part of this revised process, the Corporate Scrutiny Committee will be invited to 
make suggestions for the 2022-23 budget. Members may wish to consider the 
Council’s current budget when considering suggestions for the budget, which is 
provided as a background paper.  

 
 

Policies and other considerations, as appropriate 

Council Priorities: 
 

The medium term financial plans seek to 
understand the amount of resources available to the 
Council to deliver its priorities in the future.  

Policy Considerations: 
 

Not applicable. 

Safeguarding: 
 

Not applicable. 

Equalities/Diversity: 
 

Not applicable. 

Customer Impact: 
 

Not applicable. 

Economic and Social Impact:  
 

Not applicable. 

Environment and Climate Change: 
 

The plans set out in this report do not fully reflect 
the potential effort required to make the Council 
zero carbon by 2030. A £1 million reserve was 
created to fund initial works, of which £409,000 
remains unallocated, but there is likely to be further 
financial resources required in the run up to 2030 to 
meet this target. 

Consultation/Community 
Engagement: 
 

Not applicable. 

Risks: 
 

The financial risks over the medium term are 
detailed in the report.  

Officer Contact 
 

Dan Bates 
Head of Finance and Section 151 Officer 
Dan.bates@nwleicestershire.gov.uk  
 

 

59

mailto:Dan.bates@nwleicestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4. Minutes
	5. Items for Inclusion in the Future Work Programme
	Draft Executive Decision Notice

	6. 2021/22 Quarter 2 Performance Report
	7. Review of Medium Term Financial Plan

